RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

Faculty of Materials Science and Applied Chemistry Institute of Technical Physics

Edvīns DAUKŠTA

Doctoral student of study program "Materials science"

OPTIMIZATION OF CADMIUM ZINC TELLURIDE CRYSTAL PHYSICAL PARAMETERS BY NANOSECOND LASER.

Doctoral thesis

Scientific supervisor Professor, Dr. habil. phys., ARTŪRS MEDVIDS

Scientific supervisor Docent, Dr. phys., ALEKSANDRS MIČKO

Rīga 2015

Daukšta E. Optimization of cadmium zinc telluride crystal physical parameters by nanosecond laser.-R.:RTU, 2015.-33 p.

Printed in accordance with ITF 2015. May 28 decision, protocol N.7



This work has been supported by the European Social Fund.

ISBN 978-9934-542-11-4

DOCTORAL THESIS NOMINATED IN DOCTORAL DEGREE OF PHYSICS AT RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

Doctoral thesis to obtain doctoral degree in physics will be defended in 9 September 2015, at Riga Technical University, Faculty of Material Science and Applied Chemistry, Paula Valdena str. 3, room 272.

OFFICIAL OPPONENTS

Professor, Dr. habil. phys. Andris Ozols Riga Technical University

Professor, Dr. habil. phys. Uldis Rogulis University of Latvia

Dr. phys. Laima Trinklere University of Latvia

APPROVAL

I confirm that I developed the doctoral thesis that is submitted for consideration at Riga Technical University for the doctoral degree. This thesis has not been submitted to any other university.

Edvīns Daukšta

Date:

The doctoral thesis is written in English, contains an introduction, 8 chapters, conclusions, list of references, 53 figures and illustrations, 99 pages in total. The list of references contains 114 titles.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

With this acknowledgement I am expressing my gratitude to everyone who directly or indirectly helped me through my doctoral studies.

First of all, I would express my deepest appreciation to my supervisors Dr. habil. phys. Artūrs Medvids and Doc. Dr. phys. Aleksandrs Mičko who guided and supported me through all these years. Moreover, they were my inspiration to pursue my work at Riga Technical University.

I would also like to express thanks to my laboratory mates for being responsive and supportive.

My sincere thanks to my colleagues from the Institute of technical physics for all the help and fruitful discussions.

I would also like to thank people from Crystal Growth Laboratory in Universidad Autónoma de Madrid and Ritec Ltd. for providing the samples. Furthermore, I would like to thank all my collaborator from local institution and from abroad who helped with measurements and discussed results.

Special thanks to Jana for support and patience.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for encouraging and supporting me through these times.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Annotation	6
Anotācija	7
Introduction	8
Literature review	10
Experimental methods	12
Results and discussions	14
4.1. Radiation hardness	14
4.2. CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure formation	17
4.3. Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detector parameters	19
Final Conclusions	25
Theses to be defended	26
Publications	27
Conferences	28
Other publications	29
References	33
	Annotation Anotācija Introduction Literature review Experimental methods Results and discussions 4.1. Radiation hardness 4.2. CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure formation 4.3. Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detector parameters Final Conclusions Theses to be defended Publications Conferences Other publications

ANNOTATION

A comprehensive study of pulsed laser influence on CdZnTe crystal physical properties is presented in this doctoral thesis. The main focus of this doctoral thesis is to investigate dependence of laser parameters on the physical properties of the CdZnTe crystal: different wavelength, pulse duration, intensity and dose. The practical significance of this doctoral thesis is to develop laser technology for CdZnTe crystal preparation for radiation detector applications.

It was proven that CdZnTe crystal sustain γ -radiation better after preirradiation with highly absorbing laser. This is due to the generation end redistribution of intrinsic point defects in temperature gradient field. The mechanism of CdZnTe γ -radiation hardness enhancement is proposed. Moreover, it was proven that high intensities of highly absorbing laser radiation leads to the formation of CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure and the effects are based on the drift of zinc atoms in to the volume of the crystal and cadmium atoms to the surface due to the temperature gradient field. Furthermore, it is possible to reduce residual impurities and dissolve indium secondary phases by weakly absorbing laser radiation due to the generation of temperature gradient field around tellurium inclusions.

Experimental results are discussed and explained in context of scientific literature.

The thesis is written in English, its volume is 99 pages. The doctoral thesis includes 53 figures, 6 tables, 51 equations and 114 references.

ANOTĀCIJA

Šis promocijas darbs ir veltīts nanosekunžu lāzera starojuma iedarbības izpētei uz CdZnTe kristālu fizikālajām īpašībām. Promocijas darba mērķis ir izpētīt CdZnTe fizikālās īpašībās pēc apstarošanas ar lāzeru pie dažādiem parametriem: viļņa garums, impulsa garums, intensitāte un doza. Praktiskais promocijas darba pielietojums sevī ietver lāzer tehnoloģijas izstrādi pielietojumam radiācijas detektoru ražošanā.

Darbā pierādīts, ka CdZnTe kristāls ir izturīgāks pret γ -starojumu pēc apstarošanas ar stipri absorbējamu lāzera starojumu. Tas notiek pašdefektu ģenerācijas un to telpiskās pārdalīšanās dēl. Darbā tiek skaidrots CdZnTe kristāla y-starojumu izturības mehānisms. Kā arī tika pierādīts, ka augstas intensitātes stipri absorbējams lāzera starojums izraisa CdTe/CdZnTe heterostruktūras veidošanos, šis efekts tiek pamatots ar cinka atomu dreifu kristāla tilpumā un kadmija atomu pārvietošanos virsmas virzienā temperatūras gradientā. Turklāt, lai samazinātu nevēlamo piemaisījumu koncentrāciju un izšķīdinātu indija sekundārās fāzes, var izmantot vāji absorbējamu lāzera starojumu, kas apkārt telūra ieslēgumiem izveido temperatūras gradientu.

Eksperimentālie rezultāti un to izvērtējums tiek pamatoti ar zinātniskās literatūras datiem.

Promocijas darbs ir uzrakstīts angļu valodā un satur 99 lapaspuses. Promocijas darbā ir iekļauti 53 attēli, 6 tabulas, 51 formula un 114 atsauces uz literatūru.

1. INTRODUCTION

CdZnTe has been used as room temperature x-ray, γ -ray radiation detectors, infrared detectors and solar cells for decades [1]–[3]. CdZnTe possess favorable physical properties required for production of ionizing and non-ionizing radiation detectors: high stopping power due to high atomic number (Z) of the components, relatively wide band gap that ensures high resistivity of the crystal and therefore low noise due to the leakage current. Furthermore, CdZnTe has higher radiation hardness than CdTe [4].

It is important to have a large volume crystal with low defect concentration, high purity and homogeneity to manufacture a radiation detector with high charge collection efficiency and consistent response to the excitation. Unfortunately, it is difficult to grow large volume CdZnTe crystal without any undesirable defects due to its fundamental properties. Defects are easily formed during the growth process and are hard to get rid of by post processing methods. CdTe and related compound technologies are evolving relatively slow even through a relatively low melting point and vapor pressure. Despite all the possible applications, one of the problems is still a lack of knowledge about materials structural properties and difficulties to prepare homogeneous compounds and alloys.

Modern CdZnTe crystal growth technology involves Bridgman and modified high-pressure Bridgman methods, which allows obtaining CdZnTe crystals with reasonable quality. Still, the quality of available CdZnTe crystals is not comparable to silicon or gallium arsenide crystal quality and it is far from ideal. The high quality of detectors is achieved by electrical compensation of acceptors (V_{Cd}) and thermal annealing. Laser annealing of CdTe and CdZnTe crystals has been known for some time [6]. However, the CO₂ laser used in these experiments usually leads to the damage of the treated crystal surface.

Nowadays, CdZnTe radiation detectors are widely used in many fields such as, x-ray and γ -ray spectroscopy [37–39], medicine [40,41], homeland security [42], x-ray and γ -ray imaging [40,43,44] and astronomy [41,45].

The aim

The aim of this thesis is to investigate pulsed nanosecond laser radiation influence on physical properties of CdZnTe.

Novelty

- 1. A laser method to increase the ionizing radiation hardness of CdZnTe crystal by formation of radiation hard near surface layer by pulsed nanosecond Nd:YAG laser, was developed.
- 2. A laser method to form CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure in CdZnTe crystal by pulsed nanosecond Nd:YAG laser, was developed.
- 3. A laser method to improve CdZnTe γ -ray detector by pulsed nanosecond Nd:YAG laser, was developed.

Practical significance

Practical significance of the conducted research is determined by the limitations and flaws of the commercially available CdZnTe. It was concluded that the pulsed Nd:YAG nanosecond laser can be used to increase radiation hardness and spectral sensitivity of the detector. As well as, form CdTe/CdZnTe heterojunction which is one of the approaches to reduce leakage current and electronic noise of the detector. Described CdZnTe laser modification methods can be applied to plain CdZnTe crystals, as well as, to fabricated detectors due to high locality of laser influence.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

CdTe and CdZnTe are II-IV group semiconductor with band gap from 1.4 till 2.2 eV. The width of the band gap depends on Zn concentration. CdTe and CdZnTe has a cubic zinc blende crystalline lattice with F43m space group symmetry. Each sub-lattice is occupied by the Cd, Zn or Te atoms, which are arranged in a tetrahedrons. Each atom shares its four valence electrons with neighboring atoms.

The alloy $Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe$ consists of CdTe crystal with randomly substituted Cd atoms by Zn atoms and is expressed as a fraction of *x*. In fact, the lattice constants for CdTe and ZnTe are about 6.482 Å and 6.104 Å, respectively [7]. The difference in the lattice constants of CdTe and ZnTe lead to changes in average unit cell dimensions.

Moreover, the substitution of Cd by Zn not only decrease the lattice constant of CdTe, but also increase the band gap of the resulting CdZnTe [10]. As it was mentioned before, higher bandgap can provide higher resistivity of the detector material. Also, ZnTe binding energy is higher in comparison to CdTe, therefore lattice is strengthened and leads to better mechanical properties. Moreover, addition of Zn increases the maximum solid solubility of Te [11].

The fundamental feature of CdTe and CdZnTe is the bonding between adjacent atoms, which is covalent bond with slight ionic properties. This is typical for II-VI compound, but not for the group IV semiconductors which have purely covalent bonding. This divergence form purely covalent bonding leads to the formation of wide range of native defects and their complexes. However, the main problem in studying these defects is lack of direct investigation methods.

Nowadays, detector grade CdTe crystals are grown by traveling heater mode (THM) [12]–[15], High Pressure Bridgman (HPB) [13] and Classical Bridgman (CB) [13] methods.

The optical properties of the material are dependent on its band gap. CdTe and CdZnTe are direct band gap semiconductors. The absorption band edge for CdTe is ~850 nm and for CdZnTe ~800 nm (depends on Zn concentration). The transmission range of CdTe is determined by the short wavelength limit of the band gap (800 nm) and the long wave limit is determined by the lattice vibration ~30000 nm [17]. Within this range the CdTe is almost transparent with transmission of about 63%.

The five factors that are responsible for optical loss in infrared region are [17]:

- 1. interband electronic transitions;
- 2. fundamental and harmonic crystalline lattice vibrations, including multiphonon processes;
- absorption by impurities, either by electrons bound to defects, localized optical impurity modes, or inner shell electronic transitions;
- 4. free carrier absorption;
- 5. optical scattering loses due to the precipitate, inclusions voids or strains;

The fifth factor often has the dominant role for the total optical transmission. However, it can be neglected for samples annealed in Cd and Te atmosphere, because of Te inclusion and precipitate dissolution.

Free carrier absorption arises due to the interaction of photons with the free electrons and holes. Optical absorption in the infrared region could be used to characterize the concentration of the free charge carriers.

Another important parameter for laser processing technologies is optical penetration depth, δ , which is calculated as an inverse from the optical absorption coefficient, α .

There are several types of defects: vacancies, interstitials and extrinsic impurities.

Point defects can be grouped in to two main categories:

- 1. Intrinsic point defects (vacancies, interstitials and antisites),
- 2. Extrinsic point defects (dopants and impurities).

Te precipitates and inclusions have an adverse effect on the performance of CdZnTe devices. The average size of Te precipitates is considered to be in the range of 10 nm and 30 nm, whereas the typical diameter of Te inclusions is in the range of $10 \sim 100 \ \mu m$ [19], [20], see Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 IR microscopy images of Te inclusions inside the CdZnTe crystal [20].

It is important to note that the impurities usually trapped at Te inclusions are segregated at the first-to-freeze and last-to-freeze section of the ingots [2]. It has been accepted that the nonuniform distribution of Te inclusions can significantly affect the charge transport properties and deteriorate the spectroscopic performance of CdTe/CdZnTe nuclear radiation detectors [2].

X-ray and γ -ray radiation detectors must have high resistivity and low concentration of charge carrier traps that lead to incomplete charge collection and broadening of the signal [8]. Mostly, high resistivity of materials is achieved by purification or addition of electrically active dopants. Therefore, compensation of existing impurities by introduction of dopants is an important challenge in the field of semiconductor material fabrication.

When a γ -photon travels through the detector, electron-hole pairs are created. The electrical field forces the electron cloud to move towards the positive electrode, while the holes drift in the opposite direction. As these carriers move, a charge is accumulated at the electrodes, which can be detected by a charge-sensitive amplifier.

3. EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

The samples were provided by prof. Ernesto Dieguez from "Crystal growth laboratory", Universidad Autónoma de Madrid. Another source of the samples was Ritec Ltd., Latvia. Crystals grown by this method has high Te inclusion concentration and shallow impurities.

After the polishing, sample was chemically etched to remove the damaged surface [22]–[30].



Figure 3.1. The schematic of the laser irradiation setup.

We employed three experimental techniques to identify the changes of the crystal properties after irradiation by the laser: Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), current voltage characteristics (I-V) measurement and photoluminescence (PL) spectra measurements. Prior to irradiation and measurements the samples were mechanically lapped, polished and chemically etched in brome – methanol solution.

I-V characteristics measurements were carried out with a Keithley 6487 Picoammeter. I-V characteristics were taken at a steady-state current condition.

FTIR spectra measurements were carried out by a Bruker Vertex 70 spectrometer in the wavelength range of 1 μ m to 18 μ m for evolution of the free charge carrier absorption, which indicates the presence of electrically active point defects.

The PL spectra measurements were carried out at the tested surface before and after irradiation by laser. The photoluminescence spectra were measured at 5 K using λ =632.8 nm line of HeNe laser with excitation power lower than 200 mW.

Samples were γ -irradiated by a ⁶⁰Co source (E_{γ} photons = 1.2 MeV) at room temperature with a dose rate of $5 \cdot 10^5$ Rad = 5.0 kGy, before and after irradiation by pulsed Nd:YAG laser.

 γ -Radiation sensitivity measurements were performed before and after preirradiation by laser. The ²⁴¹Am was used as a source of γ -radiation.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1. Radiation hardness

CdZnTe exposure to the ⁶⁰Co γ -rays leads to the formation of intrinsic point defects [31]. However, laser preirradiation of the CdZnTe leads to the increase of radiation hardness. This effect will be discussed in this chapter and mechanism of laser influence on radiation hardness of CdZnTe is proposed. The temperature of near surface layer does not exceed the melting temperature of 1277.15 K, see Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1 The calculated time dependence of the temperature of the laser irradiated CdZnTe sample by different laser intensities. Striped area represents the laser pulse duration.

Irradiation of $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ crystal by the laser leads to the appearance of D^0X band and increase of A^0X band. The appearenec of D^0X band is due to the generation of cadmium interstitial atoms and the increase of A^0X band is due to the cadmium vacancies.

Irradiation of $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ crystal by γ -rays with a dose rate of 5×10^5 Rad = 5.0 kGy leads to the increase of A^0X band intensity in PL spectra of $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ crystal, as shown in Figure 4.2. Intensity of A^0X band increased ~9 times in comparison to intensity before γ -irradiation. In the same time D^0X band in PL spectrum of $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ crystal disappears completely.





We explain this effect by Cd vacancies generation and localization in the excited luminescence thin layer after γ -irradiation of Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe crystal.

Gamma radiation causes the generation of additional Cd vacancies and interstitial Cd atoms, which causes the growth of the intensity of the A⁰X line in the PL spectrum. Generation and recombination process takes place simultaneously, when the existing interstitial atoms or atoms generated under the influence of gamma radiation moves and fills the existing vacancies or newly generated vacancies.

Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 shows intensities of A^0X and D^0X depending on laser irradiation intensity. Changes in PL spectra start at laser intensity 0.84 MW/cm². But the effect of radiation hardness increase is more pronounced with laser intensity 1.8 MW/cm².



Figure 4.3 The PL intensity of $A^0X(1)$ and $D^0X(2)$ bands of CdZnTe crystal as a function of Nd:YAG laser intensity: irradiated by the laser.



Figure 4.4 The PL intensity of A^0X (1) and D^0X (2) bands of CdZnTe crystal as a function of Nd:YAG laser intensity: irradiated by the laser and after subsequently irradiation by γ -ray with a dose rate of 5.0 kGy.

As a result, the rate of increase in the concentration of vacancies and interstitial atoms is slowed down because of their partial recombination. These processes can be explained by a decrease of A^0X line intensity growth, which also means an increase in radiation resistance of semiconductor.

It should be noted that such mechanism of "defect healing" is valid only up to certain values of radiation doses at which the number of donors formed by laser irradiation may still restrain the formation of the vacancies.

4.2. CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure formation

CdTe and CdZnTe are promising materials for x-ray and γ -ray detectors. However, due to the low mobility-lifetime product $\mu_h \tau_h \sim 10^{-5} - 10^{-4}$ cm²·V⁻¹ for holes and $\mu_e \tau_e \sim 10^{-4} - 10^{-3}$ cm²·V⁻¹ for electrons, considerable amount of charge carriers are lost. Moreover, hole trapping results in a broad low energy shoulder in radiation spectra. To solve this problem, high bias voltages may be applied, however, this will increase leakage current and electronic noise. Therefore, several research groups have proposed the use of Schottky diode structure [32] or heterostructure [33]–[35] to allow using higher bias voltages with significantly lower (by the orders of magnitude) leakage current end electronic noise.



Figure 4.5 The calculated time dependence of the temperature of the laser irradiated CdZnTe sample by different laser intensities. Striped area represents the laser pulse duration.

The laser-induced surface modification is investigated in p- $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ under irradiation by nanosecond pulses of Nd:YAG laser with an intensity 5 MW/cm². The conductivity type inversion of the near-surface region with thickness of several micrometers is observed. The electrical contacts are prepared by electroless deposition of Au on the irradiated surface. The spectral dependence of the photovoltaic response is explained by formation of the graded band gap in the laser irradiated region.

Temperature gradient effect is suitable to explain the barrier structure formation on the surface of CdZnTe. See Figure 4.5 for transient temperature at the surface of the sample.

Thus, pulsed laser irradiation of $p-Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ results in formation of the surface layer with n-type conductivity. The inversion of the conductivity type occurs on the micrometer depth. The photovoltaic measurements in the surface-barrier structures prepared the laser-irradiated surface is explained by appearance of the graded-gap region. The barrier structure possesses diode like properties, as can be seen in



Figure 4.6.

Figure 4.6. I-V characteristics of CdTe/CdZnTe heterojunction

The photoresponse generated by these barriers should have an opposite sign. The lack of the sign inversion in

Figure 4.7 may indicate that the depth of the heterojunction is sufficiently larger than the diffusion length of nonequilibrium holes), whereby it does not affect the measured photoresponse. Note also that the long-wavelength edge of the photoresponse $\lambda_c \cong 810$ nm corresponds to the absorption depth of the order of 1 µm, as the absorption coefficient at this wavelength is ~10³ cm⁻¹.



Figure 4.7 Photosensitivity spectra in contacts on the non-irradiated (1) and irradiated (2) surfaces measured in the short-circuit current mode at T = 295 K.

4.3. Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detector parameters

It has been observed that λ =1064 nm laser irradiation with intensity 5.0 MW/cm² leads to decrease of the leakage current. After irradiation by 10⁵ laser pulses the reduction of the leakage current is no longer observed. From the analysis of I-V characteristics before and after irradiation by laser the resistivity of the sample doubled. The increase of the resistivity can be explained by at least two mechanisms. The first one is the decrease of the charge carrier mobility and the second one is the decrease of the free charge carrier concentration. Qualitatively, this effect can be estimated by a change in the optical transmission spectra of the crystal [36]. The increase of resistivity was correlated with IR spectra before and after laser irradiation.

FTIR spectra of the non-irradiated and laser irradiated samples are shown in Figure 4.8. It is known from literature that the absorption in the 8-20 μ m range of the IR spectra is primarily determined by the free charge carrier absorption. The absorption of light by the free charge carriers is mainly caused by the presence of the uncompensated electrically active residual impurities and V_{Cd} [36]–[39].



Figure 4.8. FTIR spectra of CdZnTe samples before (curve 2) and after irradiation (curve 1) by the Nd:YAG laser.

The typical PL spectrum contains an intense A^0X band at 1.6308 eV ascribed to excitons bound on shallow acceptors (V_{Cd}) or residual impurities (Cu, Fe, etc.) and its longitudinal optical phonon replicas (A^0X -LO) at 1.6087 eV, and D^0X band at 1.6410 eV ascribed to excitons bound to shallow donor Cd_i and In atoms substituting Cd in crystal lattice (In_{Cd}) [5]. The dominant line in PL spectra of In-doped CdZnTe crystal is D^0X , in contrast to the undoped CdZnTe, where usually A^0X is the typical dominant peak [5], [40].

The presence of free exciton (FE) peak at 1.6461 eV and the absence of donor-acceptor pair (DAP) in PL spectra of CdZnTe crystal is an evidence of high crystal quality of the semiconductor [5]. The intensity of

 D^0X band increased after irradiation, but the intensity of the A^0X peak decreased, as shown in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9 PL spectra of CdZnTe samples before (curve 1) and after irradiation (curve 2 -with pulse number 3.6×10⁴ pulses) by the Nd:YAG laser.

The changes in the PL spectrum of CdZnTe are explained in the following way. It is known that a part of the In and Cd atoms exist in the interstitial state [5], [41]. After laser irradiation of the sample V_{Cd} are substituted by In and Cd from interstitial state, according to (1) and (2),

$$In + V_{Cd}^{2-} \leftrightarrow In_{Cd}^{+} + 3e^{-} \tag{4.1}$$

$$Cd_i^{2+} + V_{Cd}^{2-} \leftrightarrow Cd_{Cd}^0 \tag{4.2}$$

According to the formulas above, these defects recombine, forming neutrally charged Cd_{cd}^0 . Therefore, the concentration of donors increase, but concentration of acceptors - V_{Cd} decrease. As a result, the intensity of A⁰X band in PL spectrum decreases, Figure 4.9. It is known that In can occupy V_{Cd} to form a shallow donor state In_{Cd}, a single ionized acceptor $[In_{cd}^+V_{cd}^{2-}]^-$ and a neutral entity $[2In_{cd}^+V_{cd}^{2-}]^0$ according to the equations [42], [43]

$$In_{Cd}^{+} + V_{Cd}^{2-} \leftrightarrow [In_{Cd}^{+}V_{Cd}^{2-}]^{-}$$
(4.3)

$$In_{Cd}^{+} + [In_{Cd}^{+}V_{Cd}^{2-}]^{-} \leftrightarrow [2In_{Cd}^{+}V_{Cd}^{2-}]^{0}$$
(4.4)

$$Cd_i^{2+} + [In_{Cd}^+ V_{Cd}^{2-}]^- \leftrightarrow In_{Cd}^+ + Cd_{Cd}^0$$
 (4.5)

The self-compensation process reduces the concentration of donor attributed to In_{cd}^+ and acceptor attributed to $[In_{cd}^+V_{cd}^{2-}]^-$, which is in agreement with experiments, the change of intensity of D⁰X line is insignificant.

Spectral resolution can be characterized by the FWHM of the peaks in the γ -ray spectra. Therefore, fitting of Gaussian peaks was performed and FWHM data was extracted, see Figure 4.10 and Figure 4.11. One can see in that the FWHM of the characteristic peaks decrease up to 30%.



Figure 4.10 Best fit results for 241 Am γ -ray spectrum CdZnTe detector crystal before laser irradiation.



Figure 4.11 Best fit results for ²⁴¹Am γ-ray spectrum of laser irradiated CdZnTe detector crysta

Table 4.1 Peak position and FWHM values of fitted peaks before and after laser irradiation.

Peak position, keV	FWHM before laser irradiation, keV	FWHM after laser irradiation, keV	Change of FWHM after laser irradiation, %
13.9	5.0 ± 0.13	3.5 ± 0.08	-30.0
17.7	3.4 ± 0.14	3.0 ± 0.14	-11.7
20.8	4.7 ± 0.64	3.2 ± 0.51	-31.9
26.3	3.9 ± 0.79	4.1 ± 0.70	5.1
34.0	4.5 ± 1.39	4.0 ± 1.10	-11.1
36.0	4.5 ± 1.96	4.0 ± 1.00	-11.1
59.6	8.6±0.13	7.7 ± 0.06	-30.0

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

1. Radiation hardness of CdZnTe.

It was demonstrated that radiation hardness of $Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te$ crystal increased after irradiation by pulsed nanosecond laser with λ =532 nm at intensities range from 0.84 till 1.8 MW/cm². The increase of radiation hardness is explained by the formation of Cd_i enriched layer near the surface of the Cd_{0.9}Zn_{0.1}Te crystal. The Cd_i enriched layer forms due to laser-induced temperature gradient at the depth of ~123 nm.

2. Formation of CdTe/CdZnTe by the laser.

CdTe/CdZnTe heterojunction was formed after irradiation by pulsed λ =532 nm laser above the intensity 5 MW/cm². Due to the temperature gradient 10⁸-10⁹ K/m, Zn atoms drift away from highest temperature to the lowest, but Cd_i drift in opposite direction toward the irradiated surface of the crystal.

3. Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detector parameters

Pulsed nanosecond Nd:YAG λ =1064 nm laser at intensity 5 MW/cm² has an effect of improvement of CdZnTe radiation detector parameters (signal to noise ratio, FWHM, spectral resolution). Te inclusions strongly absorb the λ =1064 nm laser radiation and heat up within nanosecond timescale forming huge temperature gradient ~10⁸ K/m. The temperature gradient is forcing the impurities to gather around Te inclusions and In atoms to react with cadmium vacancies, purifying the crystal.

THESES TO BE DEFENDED

- 1. Ionizing radiation hardness of CdZnTe crystal increase by 7.4 times after irradiation by 532 nm Nd:YAG laser at intensity from 0.84 till 1.8 MW/cm². The radiation hardness increase due to the drift of cadmium interstitials to the surface and cadmium vacancies to the volume of the crystal.
- CdTe/CdZnTe heterostructure is formed by the pulsed nanosecond 532 nm Nd:YAG laser at intensity 5 MW/cm². The Cd_i drift to the surface and Zn in to the volume of CdZnTe crystal.
- 3. Selective laser annealing of the CdZnTe crystal with Te inclusions by the pulsed nanosecond 1064 nm Nd:YAG laser at intensity 5 MW/cm² leads to the improvement of CdZnTe ionizing radiation detector parameters, charge collection efficiency by 5% and spectral resolution by 30%.

PUBLICATIONS

Monograph

 "Nd:YAG Laser", book edited by Dan C. Dumitras, chapter "Application of Nd:YAG Laser in Semiconductors' Nanotechnology", Artur Medvid', Aleksandr Mycko, Pavels Onufrijevs and Edvins Dauksta, Publisher: InTech

Patent

2. LV 14439 B Pusvadītāju radiācijas izturības uzlabošanas paņēmiens, Aleksandrs Mičko, Artūrs Medvids, Edvīns Daukšta

Publications

- Mychko A., Medvid A., Dauksta E., Laser-induced increase of resistivity and improvement of optical properties of CdZnTe crystal, Journal of Crystal Growth, Volume 415, 2015, Pages 47-50 (Scopus) (Web of Science)
- 4. Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E. & Sobolev, N.A., Homoand hetero structures formation in semiconductors by laser radiation: First stage of quantum cones formation, Solid State Phenomena, Volume 205-206, 2014, Pages 475-479 (**Scopus**)
- Shankar, H., Castaldini, A., Dieguez, E., Dauksta, E., Medvid, A., Rubio, S., & Cavallini, A. (2014). Investigation of Deep Level Defects in CdTe Thin Films. In Cavallini, A and Estreicher, SK (Ed.), INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON DEFECTS IN SEMICONDUCTORS 2013 (Vol. 1583, pp. 145–149) (Scopus) (Web of Science)
- Medvid', A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Ivanov, V., Alekseeva, L., Dieguzs, E., Crosso, J., Bensalah, H., Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detectors parameters by laser radiation, (2011) IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, art. no. 6154756, pp. 4672-4673 (Scopus) (Web of Science)
- Medvid, A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Naseka, Y., Crocco, J., Dieguez, E., The effect of laser radiation on CdZnTe radiation hardness, (2011) Journal of Instrumentation, 6 (11), art. no. C11010 (Scopus) (Web of Science)
- 8. Medvid, A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Dieguez, E., Naseka, Y., CdZnTe radiation hardness increasing by laser radiation, (2010) 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material

and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction'2010, pp. 329-330 (Scopus) (Web of Science)

 Medvid, A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Naseka, Y., Crocco, J., Dieguez, E., Increased radiation hardness of CdZnTe by laser radiation, (2010) IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, art. no. 5873918, pp. 1014-1016 (Scopus) (Web of Science)

CONFERENCES

- 1. Edvins Dauksta, Arturs Medvids, Aleksandrs Mychko, The improvement of CdZnTe:In radiation detector parameters by laser, European materials research society Fall meeting 2014, Warshaw, Poland, September 15-18, 2014 (**Best student presentation award**)
- Medvid, P. Onufrijevs, R. Janeliukstis, E. Dauksta, J.Plaza, S.Rubio, E. Diéguez, I. Dmitruk and N. Berezvska, "Thermogradient Mechanism of Defect Precipitation in Semiconductor Crystals", ABSTRACTS of 15th International Symposium on Ultrafast Phenomena in Semiconductors, Vilnius, Lithuania, August 25-28, 2013.
- Aleksandrs Mičko, Artūrs Medvids, Edvīns Daukšta, Ernesto Diéguez, Hakima Bensalah, "IMPROVEMENT OF CdZnTe CRYSTAL QUALITY BY LASER RADIATION", Abstracts of the Riga Technical University 53rd International Scientific Conference: Section: Material Science and Applied Chemistry October 11-12 2012 Riga, Latvia p. 30, 2012.
- Daukšta, E., Medvids, A., Mičko, A., Dieguez, E. Laser Processing of CdZnTe, its Optical and Electrical Properties. Abstracts of the Riga Technical University 53rd International Scientific Conference: Section: Material Science and Applied Chemistry October 11-12 2012 Riga, Latvia.
- Medvid', P. Onufrijevs and A. Mychko, Influence of Laser Radiation on Electrical Properties of CdZnTe Crystal, Book of Abstract of the conference 'Functional materials and nanotechnologies - FM&NT-2011' p.79, 2011.
- Medvid', A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Ivanov, V., Alekseeva, L., Dieguzs, E., ... Bensalah, H. (2011). Improvement of CdZnTe radiation detectors parameters by laser radiation. In 2011 IEEE

Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (pp. 4672–4673). IEEE. doi:10.1109/NSSMIC.2011.6154756

- Medvids, A., Mvchko, A., Barloti, J., Dauksta, E., Naseka, Yu., Mechanism of nanostructure formation on a surface of CdZnTe crystal by laser irradiation, (2010) 3rd International Conference -Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction'2010, p. 141.
- Medvid, Artur; Mychko, Aleksandr; Dauksta, Edvins, CdZnTe RADIATION HARDNESS INCREASING BY LASER RADIATION, (2010) 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction'2010, p. 141.
- Medvid, A., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., Naseka, Y., Crocco, J., & Dieguez, E. (2010). Increased radiation hardness of CdZnTe by laser radiation. In IEEE Nuclear Science Symposuim & Medical Imaging Conference (pp. 1014–1016). IEEE. doi:10.1109/NSSMIC.2010.5873918.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS

- Grigonis, A., Naujokaitis, R., Mychko, A., Dauksta, E., & Zabels, R. (2010). Infrared and visible light pulsed laser irradiation of DLC films. In 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction'2010 (pp. 337– 340).
- Kalnina, D., Gross, K. A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E., Nikolajeva, V., Stankeviciute, Z., & Kareiva, A. (2015). The antimicrobial action of silver halides in calcium phosphate. In *Key Engineering Materials* (Vol. 631, pp. 384–389).
- Kropman, D., Mellikov, E., Kärner, T., Laas, T., Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., & Dauksta, E. (2011). Stress Relaxation Mechanism by Strain in the Si-SiO₂ System and its Influence on the Interface Properties. *Solid State Phenomena*, 178-179, 259-262.
- Kropman, D., Mellikov, E., Karner, T., Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., & Dauksta, E. (2011). Stress relaxation mechanism by strain in the Si-SiO 2 system and its influence on the interface properties. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 25(1), 012018.
- Medvid, A., Onufrievs, P., Dauksta, E., Blumbeka, L., Barloti, J., Ulyashin, A., ... Pundyk, I. (2010). Formation of P-N junction in ITO/P-Si structure by Nd: Yag laser radiation for solar cells application. In 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction'2010 (pp. 208-211).
- 6. Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E., Barloti, J., Grabovskis, D., & Ulyashin, A. (2009). Dynamics of nanostructure formation using point

defects on semiconductors by laser radiation. *Physica Status Solidi* (c), 6(8), 1927–1928.

- Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E., & Kyslyi, V. (2010). Formation of "black silicon" by laser radiation for solar cells application. In 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction '2010 (pp. 89–90).
- Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Fedorenko, L., Rimshans, J., & Dauksta, E. (2008). Properties of porous si fabricated by laser radiation and subsequent electrochemical etching. In *International Conference - Radiation Interaction* with Material and its use in Technologies 2008 (pp. 60–61).
- Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Fedorenko, L., Yusupov, N., & Daukšta, E. (2009). Suppression of Pores Formation on a Surface of p-Si by Laser Radiation. Solid State Phenomena, 156-158, 337-341.
- Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Jarimaviciute-Gudaitiene, R., Dauksta, E., & Prosycevas, I. (2013). Formation mechanisms of nano and microcones by laser radiation on surfaces of Si, Ge, and SiGe crystals. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 8(1), 264.
- 11. Medvid, A., Onufrijevs, P., Mozolevskis, G., Dauksta, E., & Rimsa, R. (2012). Two-stage model of nanocone formation on a surface of elementary semiconductors by laser radiation. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 7(1), 428.
- Medvid', A., Onufrijevs, P., & Dauksta, E. (2013). Two-stage model of quantum cones formation on a surface of semiconductors by laser radiation. In 2013 13th IEEE International Conference on Nanotechnology (IEEE-NANO 2013) (pp. 1054–1057).
- Medvid', A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E., Barloti, J., Ulyashin, A. G., Dmytruk, I., & Pundyk, I. (2011). P-N Junction Formation in ITO/p-Si Structure by Powerful Laser Radiation for Solar Cells Applications. Advanced Materials Research, 222, 225-228.
- Medvid', A., Onufrijevs, P., Dauksta, E., & Kyslyi, V. (2011). "Black Silicon" Formation by Nd:YAG Laser Radiation. Advanced Materials Research, 222, 44-47.
- Medvids, A., Mvchko, A., Barloti, J., Dauksta, E., & Naseka, Y. (2010). Mechanism of nanostructure formation on a surface of cdznte crystal by laser irradiation. In 3rd International Conference - Radiation Interaction with Material and Its Use in Technologies 2010, Program and Materials, Interaction '2010 (p. 141).
- Onufrijevs, P., Medvid', A., Dauksta, E., & Trautnitz, T. (2011). Decrease of Point Defect Concentration at a Surface of ZnO/Si Heterostructure by Powerful Laser Radiation. Advanced Materials Research, 222, 158–161.
- 17. Puritis, T., Kaupuzs, J., & Dauksta, E. (2011). Mechanisms of Strong Photoluminescence from Si Nanocrystals. *Advanced Materials Research*, 222, 175–180.
- Šutka, A., Timusk, M., Kisand, V., Šutka, A., & Dauksta, E. (2015). Fabrication of Lead Titanate PbTiO 3 Nanofiber Mats Via Electrospinning. *International Journal of Applied Ceramic Technology*, 12, E117–E121.

REFERENCES

- R. Arlt, K. H. Czock, and D. Rundquist, "Overview of the use of CdTe detectors for the verification of nuclear material in nuclear safeguards," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 322, no. 3, pp. 575–582, 1992.
- [2] R. Arlt and D. Rundquist, "Room temperature semiconductor detectors for safeguards measurements," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 380, no. 1–2, pp. 455–461, 1996.
- [3] M. Aparo and R. Alt, "Development and safeguards use of advanced CdTe and CdZnTe detectors," in NUCLEAR MATERIALS MANAGEMENT-ANNUAL MEETING-, 1998, vol. 27, pp. 1846– 1858.
- [4] B. Fraboni, A. Cavallini, and W. Dusi, "Damage induced by ionizing radiation on CdZnTe and CdTe detectors," in *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, 2004, vol. 51, no. 3 III, pp. 1209–1215.
- [5] Q. Li, W. Jie, L. Fu, G. Yang, G. Zha, T. Wang, and D. Zeng, "Photoluminescence analysis on the indium doped Cd[sub 0.9]Zn[sub 0.1]Te crystal," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 100, no. 1, p. 013518, 2006.
- [6] M. Meier and M. Harrison, "Laser-induced thermomigration of Te precipitates in CdZnTe crystals," J. Cryst. Growth, vol. 311, no. 17, pp. 4247–4250, 2009.
- [7] N. Romcevic, M. Romcevic, R. Kostic, D. Stojanovic, B. Abolmasov, G. Karczewski, and R. Galazka, "Resonant Raman spectra of CdTe/ZnTe self assembled quantum dots," *Acta Phys. Pol. A*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 88–90, 2009.
- [8] T. Schlesinger, J. Toney, H. Yoon, E. Lee, B. Brunett, L. Franks, and R. James, "Cadmium zinc telluride and its use as a nuclear radiation detector material," *Mater. Sci.*, vol. 32, no. 4–5, pp. 103– 189, 2001.
- [9] S. Stolyarova, F. Edelman, a Chack, a Berner, P. Werner, N. Zakharov, M. Vytrykhivsky, R. Beserman, R. Weil, and Y. Nemirovsky, "Structure of CdZnTe films on glass," *J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 41, no. 6, p. 065402, 2008.
- [10] M. C. M. Chu, S. Terterian, and D. Ting, "Role of zinc in CdZnTe radiation detectors: why zinc? How much?," 2003 IEEE Nucl. Sci. Symp. Conf. Rec. (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37515), vol. 5, pp. 3338–3341, 2003.

- [11] C. Szeles, "CdZnTe and CdTe materials for X-ray and gamma ray radiation detector applications," *Phys. Status Solidi Basic Res.*, vol. 241, no. 3, pp. 783–790, 2004.
- [12] L. Verger, M. Boitel, M. C. Gentet, R. Hamelin, C. Mestais, F. Mongellaz, J. Rustique, and G. Sanchez, "Characterization of CdTe and CdZnTe detectors for gamma-ray imaging applications," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 458, no. 1–2, pp. 297–309, 2001.
- [13] Eurorad, "http://www.eurorad.com/materials.php," 2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.eurorad.com/materials.php.
- [14] Acrorad, "http://www.acrorad.co.jp/us/material.html," 2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.acrorad.co.jp/us/material.html.
- [15] P. Capper, *Properties of Narrow Gap Cadmium-based Compounds*. INSPEC, the Institution of Electrical Engineers, 1994.
- [16] A. Peyghambarian, N., Koch, S. W. & Mysyrowicz, *Introduction to semiconductor optics*. Prentice Hall College Div, 1993.
- [17] R. O. Bell, "Review of optical applications of CdTe," *Rev. Phys. Appliquée*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 391–399, Feb. 1977.
- [18] C. Honsberg and and S. Bowden, "http://www.pveducation.org/pvcdrom/pn-junction/absorptioncoefficient," 2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.pveducation.org/pvcdrom/pn-junction/absorptioncoefficient.
- [19] M. Fiederle, A. Fauler, and A. Zwerger, "Crystal growth and characterization of detector grade (Cd,Zn)Te crystals," in *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, 2007, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 769–772.
- [20] H. Bensalah, J. Crocco, V. Carcelén, A. Black, Q. Zheng, J. L. Plaza, and E. Diéguez, "Effect of superheating and fast cooling on Te inclusions of Cd 0.9Zn 0.1Te:In crystals grown by vertical gradient freezing," J. Cryst. Growth, vol. 361, no. 1, pp. 5–10, 2012.
- [21] P. K. L. H.R. Vydyanath, J. Ellsworth, J.J. Kennedy, B. Dean, C.J. Johnson, G.T. Neugebauer, J. Sepich, "Recipe to minimize Te precipitation in CdTe and (Cd,Zn)Te crystals," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanom. Struct., vol. 10, no. 4, p. 1476, 1992.
- [22] S. H. Cho, J. H. Suh, J. H. Won, K. H. Kim, J. K. Hong, and S. U. Kim, "Surface leakage current control with heterojunction-type passivation in semi-insulating CdZnTe material," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 591, no. 1, pp. 203–205, 2008.
- [23] S. Awadalla, Solid-State Radiation Detectors: Technology and Applications. CRC Press, 2015.

- [24] L. V. b Poperenko, D. V. Gnatyuk, V. A. Odarych, I. V. b Yurgelevich, S. N. Levytskyi, and T. Aoki, "Laser-induced modification of the surface state and optical properties of CdTe crystals," *Adv. Mater. Res.*, vol. 222, pp. 28–31, 2011.
- [25] J. Chu and A. Sher, *Device Physics of Narrow Gap Semiconductors*. Springer Verlag, 2009.
- [26] S. Cho, J. Suh, J. Won, K. Kim, J. Hong, and S. Kim, "Surface leakage current control with heterojunction-type passivation in semiinsulating CdZnTe material," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 591, no. 1, pp. 203–205, Jun. 2008.
- [27] T.-J. Yang and T.-B. Wu, "Effect of Etching on Composition and Morphology of CdTe(111) Surfaces," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., vol. 34, pp. 6184–6194, 1995.
- [28] S. Del Sordo, L. Abbene, E. Caroli, A. M. A. M. Mancini, A. Zappettini, and P. Ubertini, "Progress in the development of CdTe and CdZnTe semiconductor radiation detectors for astrophysical and medical applications," *Sensors*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 3491–3526, May 2009.
- [29] J. Chu and A. Sher, *Physics and properties of narrow gap* semiconductors. Springer Verlag, 2008.
- [30] I. M. Kotina, L. M. Tukhkonen, G. V Patsekina, a V Shchukarev, and G. M. Gusinskii, "Study of CdTe etching process in alcoholic solutions of bromine," *Semicond. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 13, pp. 890–894, 1999.
- [31] A. Cavallini, B. Fraboni, W. Dusi, M. Zanarini, M. Hage-Ali, and P. Siffert, "Defects introduced in cadmium telluride by γ irradiation," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 4664–4666, 2001.
- [32] T. Takahashi, B. Paul, K. Hirose, C. Matsumoto, R. Ohno, T. Ozaki, K. Mori, and Y. Tomita, "High-resolution Schottky CdTe diode for hard X-ray and gamma-ray astronomy," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 436, no. 1–2, pp. 111–119, 1999.
- [33] Y. Chang, C. H. Grein, C. R. Becker, X. J. Wang, Q. Duan, S. Ghosh, P. Dreiske, R. Bommena, J. Zhao, M. Carmody, F. Aqariden, and S. Sivananthan, "CdZnTe radiation detectors with HgTe/HgCdTe superlattice contacts for leakage current reduction," in *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 2011, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 1854–1859.
- [34] M. Niraula, K. Yasuda, S. Namba, T. Kondo, S. Muramatsu, Y. Wajima, H. Yamashita, and Y. Agata, "MOVPE Growth of Thick Single Crystal CdZnTe Epitaxial Layers on Si Substrates for Nuclear

Radiation Detector Development," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 2859–2863, 2013.

- [35] "MOVPE Growth of Thick Single Crystal CdZnTe Epitaxial Layers on Si Substrate for Nuclear Radiation Detector Development," *Nucl. Sci. Symp. Med. Imaging Conf. (NSS/MIC), 2012 IEEE*, no. R07–1, pp. 4212–4215, Oct. 2012.
- [36] L. Yujie, G. Zhi, L. Guoqiang, and J. Wangqi, "Infrared transmission spectra of Cd1-xZnxTe (x = 0.04) crystals," *J. Electron. Mater.*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 861–866, Aug. 2004.
- [37] G. A. Kulkarni, K. S. R. Koteswara Rao, R. Raman, A. Pandey, R. K. Sharma, A. K. Garg, and M. Srivastava, "Quality assessment of CdZnTe (Zn ~ 4 %) crystals," in 2007 International Workshop on Physics of Semiconductor Devices, 2007, pp. 453–455.
- [38] J. Zhu, X. Zhang, B. Li, and J. Chu, "The effects of Te precipitation on IR transmittance and crystalline quality of as-grown CdZnTe crystals," *Infrared Phys. Technol.*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 411–415, Oct. 1999.
- [39] S. Sen, D. R. Rhiger, C. R. Curtis, M. H. Kalisher, H. L. Hettich, and M. C. Currie, "Infrared absorption behavior in CdZnTe substrates," *J. Electron. Mater.*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 611–618, Jun. 2001.
- [40] A. Medvid', Y. Hatanaka, D. Korbutjak, L. Fedorenko, S. Krilyuk, and V. Snitka, "Generation of the A-centres at the surface of CdTe(Cl) by YAG:Nd laser radiation," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 197–198, pp. 124–129, Sep. 2002.
- [41] G. Yang, W. Jie, and Q. Zhang, "Photoluminescence investigation of CdZnTe:In single crystals annealed in CdZn vapors," J. Mater. Res., vol. 21, no. 07, pp. 1807–1809, Mar. 2011.
- [42] P. Yu and W. Jie, "Photoluminescence analysis of high-resistivity CdZnTe:In single crystals obtained by annealing," J. Lumin., vol. 146, pp. 382–386, Feb. 2014.
- [43] P. Fochuk, O. Korovyanko, I. Turkevych, O. Panchuk, and P. Siffert, "Defect chemistry in CdTe (In) crystals," J. Cryst. Growth, vol. 207, no. 4, pp. 273–277, Dec. 1999.